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The Victorian Pharmacy Authority proudly acknowledges Victoria’s Aboriginal communities 
and their rich culture and pays respect to their Elders past and present.  

We acknowledge Aboriginal people as Australia’s first peoples and as the Traditional Owners 
and custodians of the land and water on which we rely.  

We recognise and value the ongoing contribution of Aboriginal people and communities to 
Victorian life and how this enriches us.  

We embrace the spirit of reconciliation, working towards the equality of outcomes and 
ensuring an equal voice. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Victorian Pharmacy Authority, October 2021. 
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Responsible bodies declaration  
 

The Hon Martin Foley MP  

Minister for Ambulance Services  
Minister for Equality 
Minister for Health 
 

 

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the report of 
operations for the Victorian Pharmacy Authority for the year ending 30 June 2021.  

 

 

 

 
David McConville 
Chair 
Victorian Pharmacy Authority 
 
Melbourne 
1 October 2021 
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Introduction 
Charter and Purpose 
Establishment 

The Victorian Pharmacy Authority (Authority) is established pursuant to section 81 of the Pharmacy 
Regulation Act 2010 (Act).  

The responsible Minister is the Minister for Health: 

Jenny Mikakos MP 

Minister for Health 
Minister for Ambulance Services 

The Hon Martin Foley MP 

Minister for Ambulance Services 
Minister for Equality 
Minister for Health  

01/07/2020 - 26/09/2020 

26/09/2020 – 30/06/2021 

Objectives, functions, powers and duties 
The Authority regulates the ownership and operation of pharmacy businesses, pharmacy departments 
and pharmacy depots.

Pursuant to section 82 of the Act the Authority has the following functions— 

a) to license a person to carry on a pharmacy business or a pharmacy department;
b) to register the premises of a pharmacy business, pharmacy department or pharmacy depot;
c) to issue standards in relation to the operation of pharmacies, pharmacy businesses, pharmacy

departments and pharmacy depots;
d) to advise the Minister on any matters relating to its functions;
e) when so requested by the Minister, to give to the Minister any information reasonably required

by the Minister;
f) to keep a public register;
g) any other function conferred on the Authority by or under this or any other Act.

The objectives of these activities are specified in section 85 of the Act. They are the need to: 

a) control who may own and operate pharmacy businesses in Victoria and
b) maintain standards relating to the licensing of persons to carry on pharmacy businesses and

pharmacy departments and the registration of pharmacy premises, pharmacy departments
and pharmacy depots.

The Authority has all the powers necessary to enable it to perform its functions. 
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About the Victorian Pharmacy Authority 
Established in 2010, the Authority is responsible for: 

• The regulation of pharmacy businesses, pharmacy departments and pharmacy depots.

• Ensuring that all Victoria pharmacies are owned, operated and controlled only by registered
pharmacists in accordance with the Act.

• Ensuring that registered premises meet the requirements of the Act (including those relating to
security, layout, cleanliness, temperature control and equipment) and are operated in
accordance with the Act and good pharmacy practice.

The Authority registers over 1500 premises in Victoria and licences the owners of registered premises. 
The Authority inspects registered premises and other facilities where pharmacists supply, compound 
or dispense medicines to monitor compliance with the Act and to support licensees to understand and 
comply with the Act and good pharmacy practice. 

As a statutory authority regulating pharmacy premises and ownership, the Victorian Pharmacy 
Authority works collaboratively with the Victorian Department of Health, the Pharmacy Board of 
Australia, the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency and pharmacy peak bodies.  

Our vision 

A safe pharmacy system that is responsive to community needs and interests. 

Our guiding principle 

To act in the public interest to make the pharmacy system safe. 

Our goals 

1. A safe pharmacy system that responds to community needs.

2. Informed stakeholders who engage with good regulatory practice.

3. A sustainable, responsive and performance-focused Authority.

4. National consistency of pharmacy regulation.

The Authority’s Strategic Plan and Business Plan are available on its website: 
www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au.  

Outcomes statements 

The outcomes the Victorian Pharmacy Authority is seeking to achieve are: 

• The Victorian community has ready access to a safe pharmacy service through the
administration of a licensing and registration scheme and guidelines for pharmacy businesses,
pharmacy departments and pharmacy depots; and

• Pharmacy owners and operators are aware of and comply with their legislative and regulatory
obligations through engagement with the Authority, primarily via the Authority’s inspection and
communications programs.

The Authority has carried out its statutory obligations under the Act and the major activities are 
summarised in this report. 

http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
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Chair and Registrar’s report 
Achievements and challenges 

We are pleased to report that 2020-21 has been another successful year for the Authority in ensuring 
a safe pharmacy system. Despite being another challenging year due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Authority carried out its legislated functions and complied with financial management and related 
obligations. The attestations in the annual report reflect the rigorous corporate governance structure 
that has been implemented. 

As can be seen from the Financial Statements in this Annual Report, the Authority remains in a 
financially sound position with full compliance with all auditing requirements. 

The targets set out in the 2019-21 Statement of Expectations were completed, in accordance with any 
modifications approved by the Authority where applicable as published in the 2020-21 Business Plan. 

Some of our achievements during the year include: 

• Introducing a program of remote video inspections
• Preparing draft standards for consultation with stakeholders
• Commencing a digital transformation project with the engagement of an information

management expert
• Continuous improvement to risk and governance processes and the Authority’s risk-based

approach to regulation
• Undertaking a comprehensive review of the inspection risk register to ensure that all risks are

adequately addressed in preparation for stakeholder consultation
• Issuing an updated premises self-audit tool
• Developing and distributing to pharmacies and pharmacy departments a quick reference guide

to support the management of Schedule 8 poisons

Following the move to a “virtual office” in 2020, we have maintained our drive for continuous 
improvement. We have focussed on embedding new ways of working and process improvements 
arising from the pandemic. Remote working and remote inspections will be an ongoing feature of the 
way we work, and we will ensure that the momentum gained through the pandemic continues to drive 
our digital transformation for the benefit of the organisation, our staff and stakeholders.  

We acknowledge the shared learning we have gained by engaging with other Victorian Government 
organisations, seeking to learn from their experience in digital transformation for example. Cyber 
security will be a continuing priority, ensuring that any changes to our information technology platforms 
and record management processes continue to protect the information that we hold. 

Further work was also undertaken to integrate the Authority’s database with the Australian Health 
Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) Practitioner Information Exchange (PIE) platform.  This  
ensures the Authority has access to up to date, reliable pharmacist registration data, thereby reducing 
risks associated with monitoring registration status of licensees and pharmacists in charge. 

With significant periods spent operating under pandemic-related restrictions, significant work was 
undertaken developing and maintaining plans to ensure safe operation during the COVID-19 
pandemic, reviewing risks associated with inspections, planning for the return of staff to the office 
following lockdowns and supporting staff wellbeing. 

A significant piece of work this year has been the development of draft standards for the operation of 
pharmacies and pharmacy departments for stakeholder feedback. Standards must be approved by 
the Minister for Health. Once issued, Authority standards will become mandatory requirements, 
providing clarity to licensees in relation to compliance in high-risk areas identified by the Authority. The 
Authority does not expect the standards will impose a new and significant burden on the operators of 
pharmacy premises. 
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Pharmacy ownership 

The Authority is committed to ensuring that all pharmacies in Victoria are owned, operated and 
controlled only by registered pharmacists and the pharmacy ownership audit program is a key activity 
supporting this goal. 

Ownership audits completed in the 2020 calendar year did not detect any unlawful ownership. 

The Authority also continues to carry out comprehensive reviews of pharmacy franchise agreements 
and other commercial arrangements to ensure compliance with the Act. These reviews continue to 
identify cases where franchise agreements may give a third party the right to control aspects of the 
operation of the pharmacy business. In such cases, the agreements are amended to bring them into 
compliance and the compliant agreements rolled out to other pharmacies operating under them. 

Regulatory activities and other functions 

The Authority continues to act against licensees in relation to breaches of the Act and failures of good 
pharmacy practice at registered premises, including non-compliance with drugs and poisons 
legislation; routinely referring instances of the latter to the Department of Health. 

We continue to report on such matters in our communications to assist licensees to ensure that their 
pharmacies operate lawfully, and the pharmacy ownership and commercial arrangements are 
compliant with the Act. 

Applications continued to be processed efficiently. We maintained high standards of service when 
processing applications for licences, premises registration and other approvals, with over 95% of 
applications processed in accordance with target processing times. 

We continued to adapt our approach to inspections in the face of the pandemic. We introduced remote 
video inspections using an online meeting platform and all site inspections were undertaken in 
accordance with risk assessments to ensure that risks to staff and stakeholders were appropriately 
managed.  

The Authority consulted with stakeholders on the risk-based focus of its inspection program, including 
the risk-based prioritisation of premises for inspection and specific areas identified as high-risk. We 
look forward to implementing improvements as a result of stakeholder feedback and further 
engagement with licensees and stakeholders in relation to inspections. 

Officers of the Authority also continued to support licensees and pharmacists facing significant 
changes, for example the introduction of electronic prescriptions, both during inspections and in 
response to enquiries.  

Governance and strategy 

In March 2021, the Authority commenced a review of its 3-year Strategic Plan. This included a review 
of strategic goals, risks and risk appetite statements conducted over several sessions and involving 
Authority members, the Audit and Risk Committee and senior staff. These sessions were facilitated by 
the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority (VMIA). As of 30 June 2021, the 2021-24 Strategic Plan 
was still being finalised. 

Policies and procedures were developed or updated in response to internal audit recommendations 
and to ensure compliance with mandated frameworks. Cyber security continues to be a major focus of 
the Authority’s risk management activities. 

Good board governance dictates that an external review of the Authority’s performance should occur 
on a regular basis. An initial meeting was held in June 2021 to formalise this process for the second 
half of 2021. The review and report to the Authority will cover member competencies, cohesiveness 
and quality of Authority meetings as well as strategy implementation and monitoring. 
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meet whatever challenges may lie ahead. 
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Regulation Branch of the Department of Health in a range of areas, including the development of 
Authority standards.  

We are also very pleased to be part of the information security family led by the Cyber Security Unit 
within the Department of Premier and Cabinet and thankful for the support we have received from 
them in relation to cyber security and helping to connect us with other Victorian Government 
organisations. 

We are also grateful to the VMIA for their support in the areas of strategic planning, risk management 
and assisting with cyber security assurance. 

Finally, the Authority members, who have been remarkable in the way they have adapted to the 
changes in the pharmacy environment and provided support to the Chair, Registrar and management 
are owed an enormous vote of thanks. 

David McConville Aaron Bawden 
Chair     Registrar 
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Year in review 
Organisational structure 
The Authority consists of members supported by a Registrar and other staff: 

Figure 1. Victorian Pharmacy Authority organisational structure 

Authority membership 
Pursuant to section 87 of the Act, the Authority consists of members appointed by the Governor in 
Council on the nomination of the Minister. Three must be registered pharmacists, one must be an 
Australian lawyer and one must be a person who is not a registered pharmacist.  

Membership of the Authority to 30 June 2021 was as follows: 

Chair 

Mr David McConville BPharm, MPS, AACPA, MAICD 
Initially appointed: 1 July 2018 

Present term of appointment: until 30 June 2021(Since re-appointed) 

Pharmacist Members 

Ms Casuarina Fersterer BPharm, MPharmPrac 
Initially appointed: 1 July 2016 

Present term of appointment: until 30 June 2022 

Victorian Pharmacy Authority
6 members

Registrar

Chief Financial 
Officer

Administration 
Officer

Senior 
Pharmacist

Pharmacist 
Field Officers

x 3

Program 
Officer -

Licensing and 
Registration 

Governance 
and Risk 
Officer 



Page 11 of 67 

OFFICIAL: Sensitive 

Mr Brendon Moar BPharm, MPS 
Initially appointed: 1 July 2018 

Present term of appointment: until 30 June 2021 (Since re-appointed) 

Mr Divesh Sanghvi BPharm, MPS 
Initially appointed: 28 April 2020 

Present term of appointment: until 30 June 2022 

One Australian Lawyer 

Ms Elizabeth Kennedy BA LLB (Hons), LLM (Melb), Grad Dip Health & Med Law, GAICD 
Initially appointed: 1 July 2019 

Present term of appointment: until 30 June 2022 

One person who is not a registered pharmacist 

Ms Marie Ritchie GradCertBA, MAICD, HonMemPDL 
Initially appointed: 1 July 2018 

Present term of appointment: until 30 June 2021 (Since re-appointed) 

Members of the Authority are appointed for a period, not exceeding three years, but are eligible for re-
appointment upon the expiry of their term of office. 

Authority meetings 
During the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021, 12 Authority meetings were held with attendance by 
Authority members as follows: 

Member Authority Meetings Leave of Absence 

Mr D McConville 11 of 12 1 

Ms C Fersterer 10 of 12 2 

Mr B Moar 11 of 12 1 

Ms M Ritchie 12 of 12 - 

Ms E Kennedy 12 of 12 - 

Mr D Sanghvi 11 of 12 1 

Audit and Risk Committee 
The Authority has an Audit and Risk Committee comprising an independent external chairman with 
accounting qualifications, Mr N Marshall, and three Authority members: Mr D McConville, Mr B Moar 
and Mrs E Kennedy at 30 June 2021. A quorum comprises the chairman and two other members. The 
Committee met four times during the reporting period. 
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Staffing 
The Authority had a staff of nine at 30 June 2021, with a Full Time Equivalent (FTE) of 6.9. These 
comprised the Registrar who is the Authority’s Chief Executive Officer, a Senior Pharmacist whose 
responsibilities include managing the premises inspection program, a Chief Financial Officer, 
Administration Officer, a Governance and Risk Officer (who is also the Secretary of the Audit and Risk 
Committee), a Program Officer and 3 pharmacists who are authorised officers/inspectors. 

Registrar:  Mr A Bawden 
Senior Pharmacist:  Mr D Thirlwall 
Chief Financial Officer: Mrs K Nadanakumar 
Administration Officer: Mrs H Newett 
Governance and Risk Officer: Dr D J Snell 
Program Officer - Licensing and Registration : Mrs C Greco 
Pharmacist - Authorised Officers:   Ms J Webster, Ms T To, Ms K La 
Pharmacist – Authorised Officer (casual):  Mr G McCurdy 

Workforce data 

Full Time Equivalent (FTE) 

30 June 2021 30 June 2020 

Staff of nine 6.90 6.10 

One pharmacist continued to assist the Authority with inspections and applications relating to hospital 
pharmacy departments on a casual basis. Titles for two positions were updated during the year to 
better reflect the duties applicable to the positions (Governance and Risk Officer, Program Officer). A 
vacant Pharmacist - Authorised Officer (inspector) position was filled in January 2021. A hospital 
pharmacist inspector position remained unfilled; this position is expected to be filled later in 2021. 

The Authority’s values align with public sector values as detailed in the Public Administration Act 2004, 
and all staff were employed pursuant to merit and equity principles and compliance with the Code of 
Conduct for Victorian Public Sector Employees.  

The Authority is committed to ensuring staff health, safety and wellbeing. The Authority has the 
following health and safety objectives: 

• Zero Lost Time Injuries;

• Zero enforcement action from health, safety and environmental regulatory bodies;

• Introduction of a proactive and integrated approach to support a mentally healthy workplace
which fosters staff input and participation.

There were no reported hazards/incidents during the year. 
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Fees 
Fees paid to Authority Members and Panel Members for attendance at meetings were as follows: 

Chair $327.00 per full day session 

Member $256.00 per full day session 

 

Schedule of gazetted fees (Effective from 1 May 2021):  

PROVISION        FEE 
Licences 
Annual licence – individual $310.00 
Annual licence – corporate $700.00 
Annual licence – hospital $375.00 
  
Registration 
Annual registration – pharmacy business $285.00 
Annual registration – pharmacy department $285.00 
Annual registration – pharmacy depot $75.00 
Applications 
Application for registration of pharmacy business $430.00 
Application for registration of pharmacy department $525.00 
Application for registration of pharmacy depot $75.00 
Application for approval of alterations to a registered 
pharmacy business 

$430.00 

Application for licence to carry on a pharmacy business $340.00 
Application for licence to carry on a pharmacy business - 
Complex 

$720.00 

Application for approval to practise in special circumstances 
section 29(1)(b) 

$145.00 

Other fees 
Site re-inspection  $430.00 
Trust or other commercial arrangement assessment  $1,900.00 

 
The above fees are exempt from GST (Division 81 of GST Act). 

The Act requires the Authority to be self-funding. At its meeting on 13 April 2021, the Authority fixed 
the fees for the 12-month period commencing 1 May 2021. 

The fees were published in the Victorian Government Gazette dated 22 April 2021 and the Schedule 
of Fees is available under the Resources section of the Authority’s website. 

Most fees were unchanged from 2019-20. Annual licence fees for pharmacy businesses increased 
from $290 to $310 for individuals, and $645 to $700 for corporate owners. The increase in pharmacy 
business licence fees was necessary to cover increasing costs associated with licence applications, 
auditing and detailed legal reviews of pharmacy business commercial arrangements. 
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Registration and licensing  
The Act requires the owners of pharmacy businesses and pharmacy departments to hold a licence 
and the premises of pharmacy businesses, pharmacy departments and pharmacy depots to be 
registered. The Act also provides for the Authority to approve registered pharmacists to supply, 
compound or dispense medicines other than at a pharmacy or pharmacy department in special 
circumstances in a particular case. 

Applications  

The Authority applies a risk-based approach to the assessment of applications. Applications for 
pharmacy business licenses, premises registration and other approvals are considered low risk when 
they clearly meet the requirements of the Act and the Authority’s guidelines. The Authority delegates 
the power to issue approvals in respect of low-risk applications to its authorised officers.  

High-risk (outside delegation) applications are referred to the next monthly meeting of Authority 
members for a decision. 

In the case of third-party commercial arrangements such as franchise agreements or arrangements 
with pharmacy banner groups, prior to granting a licence the Authority must be satisfied that the 
proposed commercial arrangements do not give a third party a proprietary interest in the pharmacy 
business or allow it to exert undue influence over the operation of the pharmacy. 

The table below summarises the numbers of applications received for the period 1 July 2020 – 30 
June 2021 and includes comparative data. 

 

Applications Number 

2018 - 2019 

Number 

2019 - 2020 

Number 

2020 - 2021 

Registration of pharmacy premises and pharmacy 
department  

121(1) 138(1) 116(1) 

Pharmacy Depots - - - 

Approval of pharmacists to supply, compound or 
dispense medicines other than at a pharmacy or 
pharmacy department 

 

52 

 

52 

 

57 

Licence to carry on a pharmacy business  

 

212(2) 228(2) 182(2) 

 

(1)   Registration applications 

• new/relocated pharmacies      47 
• alterations      64 
• pharmacy department       5 

 

(2)   Licence applications 

• pharmacist      18 
• pharmacist (complex)*                                    86 
• company                                                                     26 
• company (complex)*                                                   47 
• hospital/friendly society                                                5 

 
*Complex applications are applications involving the assessment of certain commercial arrangements as specified in 
relevant application forms/guidance.       
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Service standards 

The Authority aims to carry out an initial assessment within five business days of receipt of a complete 
application. For applications within the delegation of Authority officers, processing should be 
completed within a further five business days of receipt of any outstanding information. For 
applications outside the delegation, processing should be completed within five business days 
following a decision of the next monthly meeting of Authority Members or receipt of any further 
required information. 

During the financial year, 342 applications were completed. Of these, 96% (328) received an initial 
assessment within five business days, and 98% (336) were processed within five working days of a 
decision of Authority members or receipt of outstanding information. 

Six (6) applications were withdrawn by applicants and 2 applications were denied by the Authority. 

 

Registered premises statistics 

 

Registered premises At 30 June 2020 At 30 June 2021 

Pharmacies 1,435  1,445  

Pharmacy Departments 73 75 

Pharmacy Depots  18  18 

 
Standards and guidelines  
Standards 

The Authority’s functions include issuing Standards in relation to the operation of pharmacies, 
pharmacy businesses, pharmacy departments and pharmacy depots. Despite not having issued any 
Standards to date, the Authority believes that certain high-risk matters are no longer suited to being 
the subject of a flexible guideline and these guidelines should be elevated to a Standard. 

Draft Standards were completed in June 2021 in preparation for consultation with licensees and 
stakeholders in July 2021.  
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The Standards, many of which are based on existing Victorian Pharmacy Authority Guidelines 
(Guidelines), will become mandatory requirements once issued. They cover responsibilities of 
proprietors and premises-related requirements that significantly impact public safety.  

The Authority believes that having Standards which are consistent with the requirements of the Act 
and supported by the Guidelines will enable the Authority to fulfil its responsibilities under the Act more 
effectively.  

Following consideration of stakeholder feedback, the final draft Standards will be submitted to the 
Minister for Health for approval and subsequently issued by the Authority. 

Guidelines 

The Victorian Pharmacy Authority Guidelines represent the current policies of the Authority in relation 
to licensing and premises registration. They form the basis of the premises inspection program and 
are published on the Authority’s website at www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au. The Guidelines detail how the 
Authority expects licensees to meet the requirements of the Act.  

The Authority typically consults with licensees and other stakeholders on an annual basis prior to 
issuing updated Guidelines. The current Guidelines were issued effective 1 November 2019. The 2020 
review of the guidelines was postponed to align with the development of Authority Standards. 

The Authority plans to revise the Guidelines to ensure they integrate with and support the Standards 
and continue to assist licensees to comply with the Act. 

 
Inspection program 

The Authority’s risk-based approach to inspections focuses on monitoring compliance with the Act and 
supporting licensees to understand and comply with the Act and good pharmacy practice. 

The inspection program provides for an inspection of each pharmacy at least every 3 years plus 
targeted inspections on a risk basis in cases of: 

• change of ownership; 
• new pharmacy premises; 
• altered pharmacy premises; 
• notifications (complaints); and 
• unsatisfactory previous inspections. 

 
Inspectors examine pharmacy security, privacy, cleanliness, dispensing workload, equipment, 
compliance with legislation and good pharmacy practice. Particular attention is paid to high-risk areas 
including: 

• storage and accurate recording of controlled drugs 
• complex compounding 
• opioid replacement therapy 
• dose administration aids 
• vaccination services.  

 
This proactive process is fundamental to providing public protection and to providing education to 
pharmacists regarding current requirements. 
 

  

http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
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The following inspections were conducted during the period, with previous year’s figures for 
comparison: 

Inspection category 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 

Inspection on change of licence 83 90 100 73 

Registration Inspection 115 94 121 96 

Standards monitoring inspection – community 
pharmacy 624 659 466 345 

Standards monitoring inspection – pharmacy 
department 35 35 10 12 

Total inspections 857 878 697 526 

 
Recent inspections have been conducted using a variety of methods considering the risk-based focus 
of the inspection as well as the prevalence of COVID-19 in the community and associated restrictions. 
In 2020-21, inspections were conducted as: 

• Site inspections (based on a risk assessment);  
• Remote inspections (desktop audits requiring licensees to submit evidence of compliance in 

the form of documents and photographs); or 
• Remote video inspections (using a readily available online meeting platform). 

 
The overall number of inspections undertaken was again reduced due to COVID-19 restrictions, and 
consequently inspections were prioritised on a risk basis. Of the total number of 526 inspections in the 
above table, 261 were undertaken remotely. All remote inspections were conducted as remote video 
inspections from January 2021. 

The Authority will continue to monitor and adapt the way in which inspections are conducted in 
response to the dynamic challenges of COVID-19. Site  inspections continue to be undertaken where 
possible in accordance with a risk assessment considering factors such as pandemic status and 
restrictions, health and safety and government policy and directives. 

Based on the frequency of observation of non-compliance and consequences being the risks to public 
safety, high-risk areas identified by the Authority include: 

• Poor dispensary workflow or organisation that could contribute to dispensing errors (e.g., low 
bar code scanning rates, use of dispensary for activities unrelated to dispensing); 

• Inappropriate temperature conditions for storage of medicines (including temperature 
monitoring); 

• Inappropriate display and supply of Schedule 3 poisons; 
• Incomplete/inaccurate records for Schedule 8 poisons; 
• Unsecure storage of Schedule 8 poisons; 
• Inadequate access to current recognised reference texts to support the pharmacy services 

provided; 
• Inadequate procedures for dispensing (including electronic prescriptions, specialised dose 

regimes, opioid replacement therapy, recall), compounding, use and maintenance of 
equipment; 

• Inadequate dose administration aid (DAA) record keeping and labelling; 
• Inadequate staff levels to manage dispensing workload; 
• Inadequate arrangements for maintaining client privacy (including secure IT arrangements); 

and 
• Inadequate systems to investigate incidents or complaints relating to dispensing or provision 

of services to improve or prevent reoccurrence. 
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In June 2021, the Authority sought feedback from stakeholder organisations on the risk-based focus of 
its inspection program to ensure that its activities are appropriately targeted to monitor and improve 
compliance. The Authority expects this process to result in improvements to its risk-based approach 
and any resulting changes to the inspection program will be communicated to stakeholders. 

The chart shown in Figure 2 indicates the totals of inspections of community pharmacies and hospital 
pharmacy departments conducted for the past five years. 

 

 
 

Figure 2. Inspections conducted 
 

Where the Authority deemed it appropriate, pharmacy proprietors were invited to attend a meeting 
with Authority members to discuss inspection reports that indicated a significant deviation from 
practice standards or the requirements of the Schedule to the Act. In more serious cases, the 
Authority convened a Panel to hear the matters. 

 
Panel hearings 
The Authority may investigate a matter relating to a licence or premises registration. This may result 
from an inspection revealing serious deficiencies. In the case of an investigation, a licensee is given 
the opportunity to respond to the Authority to provide an explanation and detail steps taken to rectify 
deficiencies before any further action is taken.  

Following an investigation, the Authority may decide to take no further action, request the licensee(s) 
attend an Authority meeting to discuss the issues, or convene a panel. 
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A panel convened pursuant to section 57 of the Act to hear a matter which has been the subject of an 
investigation may result in:  

• a condition(s) being placed on a licence and/or premises registration;  
• cautioning or reprimanding of a licensee or registration holder;  
• the licence or premises registration continuing; 
• a licence and/or premises registration being revoked. 

 
It should be noted that panel decisions may include a range of determinations, such as a caution and 
the imposition of a condition. 

The Authority may impose a condition requiring that a site re-inspection be undertaken and in such 
cases a fee is charged to the licensee(s). 

Panel hearings are reserved for matters involving serious failures including alleged breaches of the 
Act.  

Summary of 2020-21 panel hearings 

The Authority conducted five panel hearings during the period. The reduction in the number of 
hearings reflects the reduced number of inspections due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the 
proportion of these undertaken remotely.  

The hearings considered matters arising from investigations relating to the Act and good pharmacy 
practice. 

Determinations of panel hearings were as follows: 

• 1 of the 5 hearings resulted in licensees receiving a reprimand; 
• 3 hearings resulted in licensees received a caution; and 
• 1 hearing resulted in condition(s) being placed on a licence. 

 
The Authority includes deidentified details of panel hearings in quarterly circulars distributed to 
licensees/registered premises. These are available on the website at www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au.  

 
Pharmacy ownership audit program  
The Authority is committed to ensuring that all pharmacies in Victoria are owned, operated and 
controlled only by registered pharmacists in accordance with the Act. To support this objective, the 
Authority conducts an annual risk-based pharmacy ownership audit program (by calendar year). 

The audit program involves ‘ownership audits’ and ‘financial audits’. Ownership audits are conducted 
by Authority staff to determine if pharmacy ownership and commercial arrangements comply with the 
Act. Financial audits are conducted by an external accountancy firm for a subset of pharmacy 
businesses  undergoing an ownership audit to confirm the veracity of the information & documentation 
submitted by licensees. 

The Authority is currently consulting with stakeholders to identify further improvements to the 
pharmacy ownership audit program. This will help inform the next round of audits due for 
commencement later in 2021. 

Report to 31 December 2020 

An evaluation of the second year of the Pharmacy ownership audit program (Year 2 Evaluation 
Report) is available on the Authority’s website at www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au.  

Forty-five ownership audits and one financial audit were completed in the 2020 calendar year. These 
audits have not identified any cases of silent or undeclared ownership. [Forty-three ownership audits 
and 7 financial audits were completed in the 2020-21 financial year.] 

http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
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Financial audits often require at least 6 months to a year to complete owing to the volume and 
complexity of information undergoing assessment and depending on the cooperation of licensees to 
provide further information and clarification in a timely manner.  

Regular meetings with the accountants conducting financial audits have taken place to discuss 
learning from audits undertaken and to plan the approach to future audits. 

A major barrier to progress in 2020 has been delays caused by the coronavirus pandemic. Licensees 
were given ample time to respond to audits with due consideration for the challenges presented by 
sustained lockdowns, with time extensions often granted.  

Steps taken to minimise delays included: 

• setting clearer expectations in correspondence to licensees regarding turnaround times to 
respond to a request for further information;  

• reiterating expectations to licensees about response times and potential actions for failure to 
respond in circulars and communiqués; and 

• taking a tougher approach with licensees who are not cooperative, for example issuing notice 
of the Authority’s intention to commence proceedings in the Magistrates Court if there was 
continued failure to produce documents. 
 

As detailed in the Year 2 Evaluation Report, the Authority revised the annual target to 40 ownership 
audits for 2021, including at least 10 financial audits. 

 
Pharmacy franchise agreements 
In the case of pharmacies operating under a franchise or banner group, the Authority carries out 
comprehensive reviews of the commercial agreements to ensure compliance with the Act. This 
program has identified several cases where franchise or similar agreements gave a third party 
the right to control aspects of the operation of the pharmacy business. 

Section 11 of the Act (Undue influence) makes void any provision of a commercial arrangement 
concerning a pharmacy that gives any person other than the person licenced to carry on the pharmacy 
business: 

a) the right to control the manner in which the pharmacy business is carried on; or 
b) the right to access books of accounts or records kept in respect of that business, otherwise 

than for the purpose of determining whether or not the conditions of the relevant document are 
being complied with; or 

c) the right to receive any consideration that varies according to the profits or takings of the 
business. 

This section prevents the use of commercial arrangements to remove control of a pharmacy business 
from the licensee. 

Established franchise agreements 

The Authority reviews established franchise and other complex commercial agreements for 
compliance with the Act on a risk basis. The process involves conducting detailed reviews of the 
franchise (or other member/licence) agreements and inviting the franchisor/third party providers to a 
meeting to discuss the areas of non-compliance. 

In all cases where such reviews have been completed, the agreements have been brought into 
compliance with the ownership and undue influence provisions of the Act. The Authority then ensures 
that the compliant versions of the agreement(s) are rolled out to all pharmacies in the group. 

In 2020-21, the Authority commenced reviews of 2 established franchise agreements and completed 
reviews of 2 others. 
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New franchise agreements 

Any new commercial arrangements must be compliant with the Act before the Authority will issue a 
licence to a person to carry on a pharmacy business pursuant to the arrangements. 

The Authority publishes commercial arrangement guidance on its website to assist stakeholders to 
ensure that pharmacy business commercial arrangements comply with the Act. The Authority’s 
guidance on franchising provides examples of the types of clauses that pharmacists should be wary of 
and avoid. 

In 2020-21, the Authority commenced and completed a review of one new franchise agreement. 

It should be noted that the Authority reviews pharmacy business commercial arrangements routinely 
as part of its application and ownership audit processes and refers agreements on a case-by-case 
basis to its external lawyers for a review of compliance with the Act. 

 
Statement of Expectations 
Statement of Expectations 2019-21  

The current two-year Statement of Expectations (SOE) issued by the Minister for Health included 
targets related to timeliness, risk-based strategies and compliance-related assistance and advice 
across key regulatory areas. 

The SOE can be viewed at www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au.  

The Authority met all the performance improvement targets included in the SOE. Some targets 
scheduled for completion by 30 June 2020 were postponed due to the impact of COVID-19 as detailed 
in the Authority’s 2020-21 Business Plan. One target (relating to pharmacy ownership/financial audits) 
was modified as explained in the Pharmacy Ownership Audit Program - Year 1 Evaluation Report - 
July 2020. 

An evaluation summary to 30 June 2021 is included below. 

Targets completed in accordance with original timelines 

• Transition 50% of licence/registration application forms to electronic formats by 30 June 2021. 
• Clearly differentiate the pharmacy ownership audit phase from any post-audit investigation by 

31 December 2019 (to facilitate publication of audit outcomes). 
• Develop a Service Charter for publication on the Authority’s website by 31 December 2019. 
• Commence routinely sending approval letters and licence/registration certificates to applicants 

by email at the time of issue by 30 June 2020. 
• Host a stakeholder forum on application processes and service standards by 31 December 

2019. 
• Review and revise inspection-related guidance documentation by 31 December 2019 with a 

view to expanding the range of guidance provided. 
• Incorporate a declaration of compliance in high-risk areas commencing with 2020 renewal 

applications (by 30 June 2020). 
• The Authority’s pharmacy business audit program will include a clearly differentiated audit 

phase and post-audit investigation phase by 31 December 2019. 

Targets postponed but completed by 30 June 2021 

• Obtain feedback from stakeholder organisations on the risk-based focus of the Authority’s 
inspection program by 30 June 2020. Any resulting changes to the inspection program to be 
communicated to stakeholders.  

• Review and revise the Authority’s self-audit form for registered premises for publication on the 
Authority’s website by 30 June 2020.  

http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
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• In consultation with stakeholders, develop a compliance and awareness aid for the 
management of Schedule 8 poisons in pharmacies, for publication and distribution to 
pharmacy premises by 30 June 2020.  

Targets modified 

• Undertake 100 pharmacy ownership audits annually; undertake 10 pharmacy financial audits 
annually. 
[For details, see Pharmacy Ownership Audit Program - Year 1 Evaluation Report - July 2020 
(available at www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au). 

 

Best regulatory practice 

Consistent with the Statement of Expectations framework, the Authority is committed to adopting best 
practice principles across its regulatory activities. 

Notably in 2021, 2 staff members attended the 5-day course ‘Managing regulation, enforcement and 
compliance’ run by the Australia and New Zealand School of Government (ANZSOG) and presented 
by Harvard Kennedy School of Government Professor Malcolm Sparrow. Officers regularly attend 
events hosted by the ANZSOG National Regulators Community of Practice and discuss lessons learnt 
within the Authority. 

 
Stakeholder engagement 
The Authority continued to distribute quarterly circulars by email to stakeholders including licensees 
and registered premises. Communiqués were also distributed on an ad hoc basis to address urgent 
matters. 

The Authority’s communications include information on its regulatory activities, statistics and 
performance, important changes, application guidance, inspections, information to support compliance 
with the ownership provisions of the Act and resources to support good pharmacy practice. 

Circulars and communiqués continue to be published on the Authority’s website for easy access and 
reference. Non-owner pharmacists may also receive the Authority’s communications directly by 
request. 

A quarterly performance report is also published on the Authority’s website. It includes statistics and 
information on the Authority’s activities and intended outcomes. 

Throughout the year, there was regular engagement and meetings with pharmacy peak bodies 
(including Pharmacy Board of Australia, Pharmacy Guild of Australia – Victoria, Pharmaceutical 
Society of Australia – Victoria, Pharmaceutical Defence Limited, Society of Hospital Pharmacists of 
Australia – Victoria).  

The Authority continued its active participation in the Pharmacy Premises Registering Authorities of 
Australia (PPRAA) forum. PPRAA was established to bring together the state and territory pharmacy 
premises registering authorities/bodies whose responsibility it is to protect the public in 
registering/approving pharmacy premises. The forum provides for information sharing and 
collaboration in relation to pharmacy premises requirements, inspection protocols, emerging risks and 
pharmacy ownership, and promotes the development of nationally consistent approaches to the 
regulation of pharmacy premises. 

There was also regular and active engagement with Medicines and Poisons Regulation Branch and 
the Immunisation and COVID-19 Vaccination Program sections of the Department of Health. The 
Authority also engages regularly with the Australian Government Department of Health (Provider 
Support and Systems Branch and Therapeutic Goods Administration) in performing its functions. 

Feedback on the risk-based focus of the Authority’s inspection program was sought from stakeholders 
(including other regulators and pharmacy peak bodies) through a targeted consultation in June 2021.  

http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
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The Authority did not host any stakeholder forums in 2020-21 due to COVID-19. 

Links with educational institutions including the delivery of presentations on pharmacy legislation to 
pharmacy students have been maintained. 

 
Service charter and complaints 
The Authority’s values and service standards are detailed in its Service Charter which is available on 
its website. 

The Authority aims to respond to enquiries in a timely manner, by the next working day in the case of 
verbal enquiries, and within 3 working days in the case of written enquiries. 

Complaints about licensees and registered premises 

Complaints about licensees (pharmacy owners) or pharmacy premises may be made to the Authority 
by email to enquiries@pharmacy.vic.gov.au. Complaints may also be posted to Victorian Pharmacy 
Authority, Level 2, 15-31 Pelham Street, Carlton VIC 3052 or by telephoning the office on (03) 9653 
1700. 

Complainants will be referred to the appropriate agency if the matter does not fall within the Authority’s 
jurisdiction. 

Investigations 

The Authority may investigate a matter relating to a licence or a registration based on a notification 
(complaint) or without notification (usually following a premises inspection). 

The following table lists the total number of complaints received in 2020-21, the number of complaints 
that were treated as notifications under the Act (investigations with notification), and also the number 
of investigations without notification undertaken. 

 

Investigations with notification 

Total complaints received 72 

Complaints treated as notifications under the Act 1 

 

Investigations without notification 

Number of investigations 17 

 

Complaints about pharmacists 

The registration of pharmacists and the handling of complaints about the conduct, health or 
performance of a pharmacist is the responsibility of the Pharmacy Board of Australia which has its 
services administered by the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency. Visit 
https://www.ahpra.gov.au/ for further information. 

Complaints about the Authority 

The Authority’s Service Charter is available on its website at www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au. Complaints 
about the Authority or its staff may be made to the Registrar by email to 
registrar@pharmacy.vic.gov.au or telephone (03) 9653 1702. 

The Authority acknowledges receipt of a written complaint.  

mailto:enquiries@pharmacy.vic.gov.au
https://www.ahpra.gov.au/
http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
mailto:registrar@pharmacy.vic.gov.au
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If the complaint is unresolved, the Authority directs the complainant to the Victorian Ombudsman Level 
2, 570 Bourke Street Melbourne VIC 3000, Telephone: (03) 9613 6222, Website: 
https://www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au. 

 

Financial and other information 
Five-year summary of financial results 

 
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

 
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Total revenue 1,565 1,592 1,469 1,147 1,090 
Total expenses 1,579 1,568 1,422 1,134 1,157 
Net result from transactions (14) 24 47 13 (67) 
Total other economic flows 20 (3) 6 - (5) 

Net result 6 21 54 13 (72) 
Total assets 3,601 3,516 2,898 2,733 2,534 
Total liabilities 2,079 2,001 1,404 1,293 1,108 
Net assets/Total equity 1,522 1,515 1,494 1,440 1,426 
      

 

Financial operations 
The following matters are noted with respect to the Authority’s financial operations: 

• The Authority recorded a surplus of $ 5,952 this financial year.  

• Total revenue and Income from transactions decreased by 1.4%. 

• The total operating expenditure increased by 0.8%. 

• Interest on surplus funds at Central Banking System (CBS) decreased by 65%.  

• The total revenue and income from transactions of $1,565,254 was 0.5% lower than the budget 
estimate of $1,573,430.  

• The total expenses from transactions of $1,579,871 was 0.3% higher than the budget estimate of 
$1,574,609.  

• Significantly contributing to the Authority’s legal expenses in the reporting period were matters 
relating to pharmacy franchise reviews. 

• Most fees fixed for the 12-month period commencing 1 May 2021 were unchanged from 2019-20. 
Annual licence fees for pharmacy businesses increased from $290 to $310 for individuals, and 
$645 to $700 for corporate owners (see Fees).  

 

Consultancies information 
Details of consultancies (under $10,000) 

In 2020-21, there were 7 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than 
$10,000.  The total expenditure incurred during 2020-21 in relation to these consultancies is $28,499. 
(excl. GST). 

https://www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au/
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Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater) 

In 2020-21 there was one consultancy where the total fees payable to the consultants was $10,000 or 
greater. The total expenditure incurred during 2020-21 in relation to this consultancy is $48,680. (excl. 
GST). Details of individual consultancies can be viewed at www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au. 

 
Information and communication technology (ICT) expenditure 
The Authority’s total ICT Business as Usual expenditure (excluding GST) for the reporting period was 
$64,353.  

 
Freedom of Information (FOI) 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the public a right of access to documents held by the 
Authority. 

Pursuant to Part II of the Freedom of Information Act 1982, the Authority has published on its website 
details regarding its functions and documents held by the Authority including those available for 
inspection and/or purchase. Information regarding freedom of information (FOI) requests is available 
on the Authority’s website: www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au.  

The Authority received no FOI requests during the period of this annual report.   

Availability of other information: 

All records of the former Pharmacy Board of Victoria’s operations relating to premises registration and 
business licensing have been retained and maintained, along with all records created by the Authority 
since its inception, in accordance with the Public Records Act 1973. 

Making a FOI request 

FOI requests can be lodged by completing the request form available on the Authority’s website. 
Requests may be emailed to the Registrar: enquiries@pharmacy.vic.gov.au or mailed to: The 
Registrar, Victorian Pharmacy Authority, Level 2, 15-31 Pelham Street, CARLTON, VIC 3053. An 
application fee of $29.60 applied for the year end 30 June 2021. 

When applying, the applicant must clearly describe the documents and materials to which they want 
access. Assistance can be provided to applicants to help them determine the types of documents 
being requested. Information, including details of applicable fees, can be found on the Authority’s 
website or by contacting the Authority’s office.  

 
Additional information available on request 
Details in respect of the items listed below have been retained by the Authority and are available to 
the relevant Ministers, Members of Parliament and the public on request (subject to the freedom of 
information requirements, if applicable): 

• Declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers; 

• Details of shares held by senior officers as nominee or held beneficially; 

• Details of publications produced by the Authority about itself and how these can be obtained; 

• Details of changes in fees charged by the Authority; 

• Details of any major external reviews carried out on the Authority; 

http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
http://www.pharmacy.vic.gov.au/
mailto:enquiries@pharmacy.vic.gov.au
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• Details of major research and development activities undertaken by the Authority that are not 
otherwise covered either in the report of operations or in a document that contains the financial 
statements and report of operations; 

• Details of overseas visits undertaken including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of each 
visit; 

• Details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by Authority to 
develop community awareness of the Authority and its services; 

• Details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees; 

• A general statement on industrial relations within the Authority and details of time lost through 
industrial accidents and disputes, which is not otherwise detailed in the report of operations;  

• Details of all consultancies and contractors including consultants/contractors engaged, services 
provided, and expenditure committed for each engagement. 

 
Public Interest Disclosures 
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 (formerly Protected Disclosure Act 2012) encourages and 
facilitates disclosures of improper conduct by public officers, public bodies and other persons, and 
provides protection from detrimental action taken against a person making a disclosure, witnesses and 
persons subject to an investigation. Information regarding public interest disclosures is available on 
the Authority’s website.  

The Authority has a zero-tolerance stance on fraud and corruption and is committed to appropriate 
control activities. The Authority will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make disclosures 
in accordance with the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 from any detrimental action in reprisal for 
making the disclosure. 

The Authority is not aware of any disclosures being made during the reporting period. Disclosures 
must be made to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC).  

The procedures established by the Authority under Part 9 of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 
may be accessed by contacting the Registrar by email: registrar@pharmacy.vic.gov.au.  

 
Environmental performance 
The Authority incorporates environmental considerations into its work practices. This includes 
minimising: 

• Energy and water consumption; 

• Air and noise emissions; and 

• Paper waste production. 

 

Asset Management Accountability Framework (AMAF) 
The Authority has conducted a self-assessment of the level of asset management maturity within the 
organisation and is in the process of implementing improvements and processes for ongoing 
monitoring in accordance with the AMAF. 

 

mailto:registrar@pharmacy.vic.gov.au
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Attestations 
Financial Management Compliance  
I, David McConville, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that the Victorian Pharmacy Authority 
has complied with the applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management Act 1994 and Instructions.  

 

 

David McConville 
Chair 
Victorian Pharmacy Authority 

Melbourne 
1 September 2021 

 

Conflict of Interest 
I, Aaron Bawden, certify that the Victorian Pharmacy Authority has put in place appropriate internal 
controls and processes to ensure that it has complied with the requirements of hospital circular 
07/2017 Compliance reporting in health portfolio entities (Revised) and has implemented a ‘Conflict of 
Interest’ policy consistent with the minimum accountabilities required by the VPSC. Declaration of 
private interest forms have been completed by all executive staff within the Victorian Pharmacy 
Authority and members of the board, and all declared conflicts have been addressed and are being 
managed. Conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for declaration and documenting at each 
executive board meeting.  

 

 

Aaron Bawden 
Registrar 
Victorian Pharmacy Authority 

Melbourne 
1 September 2021 

 

Integrity, fraud and corruption 
I, Aaron Bawden, certify that the Victorian Pharmacy Authority has put it place appropriate internal 
controls and processes to ensure that Integrity, fraud and corruption risks have been reviewed and 
addressed at the Victorian Pharmacy Authority during the year.  

 

 

Aaron Bawden 
Registrar 
Victorian Pharmacy Authority 

Melbourne 
1 September 2021 
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Disclosure Index 
The annual report of the Victorian Pharmacy Authority is prepared in accordance with all relevant 
Victorian legislation.  This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Authority’s 
compliance with statutory disclosure requirements. 

Legislation Requirement Page Reference 

Ministerial Directions 
 

Report of operations 
Charter and purpose 
FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 5 

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 5 

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 5-6, 14-21 

FRD 22H Activities, programs and achievements for the reporting period 5-21 

FRD 22H Significant changes in key initiatives and expectations for the 
future 

7-9 

   

Management and structure 
FRD 22H Organisational structure  10 

FRD 22H Workforce data/ employment and conduct principles 12 
FRD 22H Occupational Health and Safety 12 

   

Financial information 
FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 24 

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 24 

FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against 
objectives 7-9, 24 

FRD 22H Subsequent events 63 

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000  25 

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 24 

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 25 

   

Legislation 
FRD 22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 25 

FRD 22H Application and operation of Protected Disclosure Act 2012 26 

FRD 22H Summary of the entity’s environmental performance 26 
FRD 22H Additional information available on request 25 
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Legislation Requirement Page Reference 

Other relevant reporting directives 
SD 5.1.4 Financial Management Compliance attestation 27 

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 4 
   

Attestations 
Attestation on managing Conflicts of Interest 27 
Attestation on Integrity, fraud and corruption 27 

Other reporting requirements 
Reporting obligations under the Asset Management Accountability Framework 
(AMAF) 

26 

 

Disclosure of ex-gratia expenses 

 

No ex-gratia payments were made during the period. 
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The attached financial statements for the Victorian Pharmacy Authority have been prepared in accordance with 
Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, 
applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements. 

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance 
sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial 
transactions during the year ended 30 June 2021 and financial position of the Authority at 30 June 2021. 

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the 
financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 01 September 2021. 

David McConville Aaron Bawden 
Chairperson Registrar 
Melbourne Melbourne 
01 September 2021 01 September 2021 

Koshala Nadanakumar 
Chief Finance and Accounting Officer 
Melbourne 
01 September 2021 



Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of the Victorian Pharmacy Authority 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Victorian Pharmacy Authority (the authority) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2021
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
• cash flow statement for the year then ended
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
• authority member's, accountable officer's and chief finance & accounting officer's declaration.

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
authority as at 30 June 2021 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 
1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the Australian 
Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the 
authority in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

Members’ 
responsibilities 
for the financial 
report 

The Members of the authority are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management 
Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Members determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Members are responsible for assessing the authority’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

Other 
Information 

The Members of the authority are responsible for the Other Information, which comprises the 
information in the authority’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include 
the financial report and my auditor’s report thereon.   

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the Other Information and accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the Other Information. However, in connection with my 
audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the Other Information and in doing so, 
consider whether it is materially inconsistent with the financial report or the knowledge I obtained 
during the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, I am required to 
report that fact.  I have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the authority’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Members

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Members’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the authority’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention
in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the authority to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Members regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I 
identify during my audit. 

MELBOURNE 
9 September 2021 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Victorian Pharmacy Authority 
Comprehensive Operating Statement 

For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021 

The above Comprehensive Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
Page 34 of 67

Notes  2021  2020 

 $  $ 

Revenue and income from transactions 
Operating activities 2 1,558,736 1,571,672 

Non-operating activities 2 6,518 21,193 

Total revenue and income from transactions 1,565,254 1,592,865 

Expenses from transactions 

Employee expenses 3 (869,406) (821,866) 

Finance costs 3 (11,554) (13,012) 

Other administrative expenses 3 (37,603) (56,815) 

Depreciation and amortisation 3 (78,338) (75,228) 

Operating expenses 3 (582,880) (600,965) 

Total expenses from transactions (1,579,781) (1,567,886) 

Net result from transactions – net operating balance (14,527) 24,979 

Other economic flows included in net result 

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave 20,479 (3,337) 

Total other economic flows included in net result 20,479 (3,337) 

Net result for the year 5,952 21,642 

Other Comprehensive income - - 

Comprehensive result for the year 5,952 21,642 



Victorian Pharmacy Authority 
Balance Sheet  

As at 30 June 2021 

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes  2021  2020 

 $  $ 

Assets 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 4 3,118,456 2,969,547 

Receivables and contract assets 5 20,726 21,479 

Prepayments 29,731 26,140 

Total current assets 3,168,913 3,017,166 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 10 432,116 499,802 

Total non-current assets 432,116 499,802 

Total assets 3,601,029 3,516,968 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Contract liabilities 6 1,338,905 1,200,200 

Payables and accrued expenses 7 86,734 122,434 

Employee benefits and related on-costs 8 171,265 136,444 

Borrowings  13 66,770 62,579 

Total current liabilities 1,663,674 1,521,657 

Non-current liabilities 

Employee benefits and related on-costs 8 43,099 40,237 

Borrowings  13 372,660 439,430 

Total non-current liabilities 415,759 479,667 

Total liabilities 2,079,433 2,001,324 

Net assets 1,521,596 1,515,644 

Equity 

Contributed capital 514,490 514,490 

Accumulated surplus 1,007,106 1,001,154 

Total equity 1,521,596 1,515,644 



Victorian Pharmacy Authority 
Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

The above Statement of Changes of Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Contributed 
capital 

Accumulated 
surplus 

Total Equity 

$ $ $ 

Balance as at 30 June 2019 514,490 979,512 1,494,002 

Net result for the year - 21,642 21,642 

Other Comprehensive income for the year - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2020 514,490 1,001,154 1,515,644 

Net result for the year - 5,952 5,952 

Other Comprehensive income for the year - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2021 514,490 1,007,106 1,521,596 



Victorian Pharmacy Authority 
Cash Flow Statement 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Notes  2021  2020 

 $  $ 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Fees from registrants 1,704,712 1,609,455 
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,483,630) (1,464,845) 
Net GST received/(paid) 6,094 8,498 
Interest received 6,518 21,193 
Interest paid (11,554) (13,012) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 11 222,140 161,289 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Payment for property, plant and equipment (10,652) - 
Redemption of other financial assets - - 

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (10,652) - 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Repayment of borrowings  (62,579) (58,613) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities (62,579) (58,613) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 148,909 102,676 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,969,547 2,866,871 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4 3,118,456 2,969,547 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies

These financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements of the Victorian Pharmacy 
Authority (the Authority) for the year ended 30 June 2021. The purpose of the report is to provide users with 
information about the Authority’s stewardship of the resources entrusted to it. 

(A) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements are general-purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs), which 
include interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are presented in a 
manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. 

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Assistant 
Treasurer. 

In complying with AASs, the Authority has, where relevant, applied those paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit 

entities. The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Authority on 01 September 2021. 

(B) Basis of accounting preparation and measurements

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying 
transactions or other events is reported. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2021, and the comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements. 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the 
Authority. 

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting. Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when 
they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the reporting 
period to which they relate, regardless of when the cash is received or paid. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for property, 
plant and equipment, physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at their fair value. Fair 
valuation assessments are made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially 
differ from their fair values. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 



Victorian Pharmacy Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021 

Page 39 of 67

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future
periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application
of AASs that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates relate to:

• Fair value of property, plant and equipment (refer Note 1 (E))

• Assumptions for employee benefits based on the likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims,
future salary movements and future discount rates (refer Note 1 (F)).

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, the Authority determines the policies and procedures for 
recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant and equipment and financial instruments and for non-
recurring fair value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the 
requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant Financial Reporting Directions. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole: 

• Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable, and

• Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Authority has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the     
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the  level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained above. 

In addition, the Authority determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

(C) Reporting Entity

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Authority. 

Its principal address is:  
Level 2, 15-31 Pelham Street 
Carlton Victoria 3053. 

A description of the nature of the Authority’s operations and its principal activities is included in the report of 
operations, which does not form part of these financial statements. 

The Authority is established under section 81 of the Pharmacy Regulation Act 2010 (the Act) to regulate the 
ownership and operation of pharmacy businesses, pharmacy departments and pharmacy depots through the 
functions specified in section 82 of the Act. The Authority acts in the public interest to achieve a safe pharmacy 
system through its licensing, registration and monitoring activities. 

For the purpose of section 102 of the Act, these financial statements correspond to the financial statements of 
the Victorian Pharmacy Authority Fund. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

(D) Rounding

All the amounts have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise stated. Figures in the financial 
statements may not equate due to rounding. 

(E) Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, which are held for the purpose of meeting 
short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes and are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value. Authority’s surplus funds are held with CBS (Central Banking 
system). 

Receivables 
Receivables consist of: 

• contractual receivables, which include debtors and accrued investment income; and

• statutory receivables, such as Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable.

Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments and categorised as loans and receivables. 
Statutory receivables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), 
but are not classified as financial instruments because they do not arise from a contract. 

Receivables are recognised at fair value and subsequently assessed for any impairment. 

Impairment of financial assets 
At the end of each reporting period, the Authority assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets are subject to annual review for 
impairment. 

Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis. Bad debts considered as written off and 
allowances for doubtful receivables are expensed. Bad debt written off by mutual consent and allowances for 
doubtful debts are classified as ‘other comprehensive income’ in the net result. A provision for doubtful debts is 
recognised when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected. Bad debts are written off when 
identified. 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are brought to account initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value, 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment.  The fair value of property, plant and equipment is normally 
determined by reference to the asset’s depreciated replacement cost. For the Authority’s property, plant and 
equipment, existing depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for depreciated replacement cost 
because of the short lives of the assets concerned.  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

The depreciable amount of the property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives, residual and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each annual reporting period and adjustments made where appropriate.

The depreciation rates used for each class of assets for current and prior years are:
Office equipment 36.0% 
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10.0% 
Building right of use  10.0% 

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which depreciation charges are 
based. 

2021 2020 

Office equipment 1-3 years 1-3 years

Furniture and fittings 5-10 years 5-10 years

Building right-of-use 5-10 years 5-10 years

         Right-of-use asset acquired by lessees – Initial measurement 
          The Authority recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right -of-     
           use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for: 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentive received; plus
• any initial direct costs incurred; and
• an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located.

           Right-of-use asset – Subsequent measurement 
           The Authority depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to  
           the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The right-of-use assets 

 are also subject to revaluation. 

In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.  

Impairment  
Property, plant and equipment are assessed annually for indications of impairment. 

If there is an indication of impairment, the asset concerned is tested as to whether its carrying value exceeds its 
possible recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is 
written off as an expense except to the extent that the write down can be debited to an asset revaluation reserve 
applicable to that same class of asset. 

If there is an indication that there has been reversal in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. This 
reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 
been recognised in prior years. 

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the 
use of the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made. The recoverable 
amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs to 
sell.  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

(F) Liabilities

Payables 
Payables consist of: 

• contractual payables, such as accounts payable. Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Authority prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise when
the Authority becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and
services, and

• statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and are recognised at fair value. Statutory payables 
are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments 
and not included in the category of financial liabilities, because they do not arise from a contract. 

Contract liabilities 
The registration fees receipts relating to periods beyond the current financial year are recognised as a liability 
and have been disclosed as contract liabilities. 

Employee benefits 
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave for services rendered to the reporting date. 

Wages, salaries and annual Leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave are recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’ because the Authority does not have the unconditional right 
to defer the settlement of the entitlements. 

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are 
measured at: 

• nominal value – if the Authority expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• present value – if the Authority does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Long service leave (LSL)  
LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL (representing 10 or more years of continuous service) is disclosed as a current liability even 
where the Authority does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because the Authority does not have 
the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 

• nominal value– component that the Authority expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and

• present value – component that the Authority does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL (representing less than 10 years of continuous service) is disclosed as a non-current liability 
because there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed 
the requisite years of service.  This non-current LSL is measured at present value.  

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised in the “net 
result from transaction”, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates which 
is then recognised as other economic flow. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

On-costs
Provision for on-costs (such as workers compensation and superannuation) are recognised together with the
provision for employee benefits.

(G) Income recognition

Premises registration and business licence fees 
Premises registration and business licence fees runs from 1 July to 30 June, with registration and licence fees 
payable annually in advance. Only those registration and licence that are attributable to the current financial year 
are recognised as revenue over time. Registration and licence payments that relate to future periods are shown 
in the Statement of Financial Position as fees received in advance under the heading of current liabilities – 
contract liabilities. 

Other revenue-generating activities 
Revenue from other contracts with customers is transferred at a point in time when performance obligations are 
satisfied by transferring promised services to customers. Payment is due from customers within 30 days of 
invoicing. 

Interest   
Interest income on investments and cash holdings are recognised as interest received in this period. 

Other income 
Other income includes sale of pharmacy premises register. 

(H) Expenses Recognition

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate. 

Employee expenses 
These expenses include costs related to employment (other than superannuation which is accounted for 
separately) including wages and salaries, leave entitlements, redundancy payments and WorkCover premiums. 

Defined contribution superannuation plans 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred. The Authority has not 
incurred any expenses in relation to defined benefit contribution plans.  

Other operating expenses 
Other operating expenses generally represents the day to day running costs incurred in normal operations. 

Rental expenses 
Expense associated with the outgoings of the office building. 

Other economic flows included in net result 
Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from 
transactions.  
Other gains/(losses) from economic flows include the gain or losses from the revaluation of present value of the 
long service leave liability due to changes in wage inflation rate and discount rate. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

Income taxes
Tax effect accounting has not been applied as the Authority is exempt from income tax under Section 50-25 of
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(I) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In this case, the GST payable is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the assets or as part of the expense.  

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO, are presented as operating cash flow. 

Commitments for expenditure and contingent assets and liabilities are also stated inclusive of GST. 

(J) Equity

Contributed capital 

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, contributed capital 
and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses 
of the Authority. 

(K) Financial instruments

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.  

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets and financial 
liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and those that do not. 

(L) Leases

All leases are recognised on the balance sheet, with the exception of low value leases (less than $10,000 AUD) 
and short term leases of less than 12 months. The Authority leases the building and IT equipment. The building 
lease contract is typically made for fixed period of 1-5 years with an option to renew the lease after that date. 
Lease payments for building is recognised every five years to reflect market rentals. 

Lease Liability – initial measurement 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily determinable or the Authority’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the 
following: 
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentive receivable;
• variable payments based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
• payments arising from purchase and termination options reasonably certain to be exercised.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

Lease Liability – subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in-substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Authority has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical
expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Presentation of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
The Authority presents right-of-use assets as ‘property plant equipment’ in the balance sheet. Lease liabilities
are presented as ‘Borrowings’ in the balance sheet.

(M) Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include operating commitments arising from contracts. These commitments 
are disclosed by way of note (refer to Note 14) at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable. In 
addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, the net present 
value of significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as 
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet. 

(N) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way of 
a note (refer to Note 17) and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

(O) Corporate structure

The Victorian Pharmacy Authority is a statutory body established under the Pharmacy Regulation Act 2010. 

(P) Comparative figures

Where necessary, the previous year’s figures have been re-classified to facilitate comparison. 

(Q) Events after the reporting period

There have been no events after the reporting period that would require disclosure in the financial report. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

(S) Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective

Certain new and revised accounting standards have been issued but not effective for the 2020-2021 reporting 
period. The Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF) assesses the impact of all these new standards and 
advises the Department of Health and Human Services of their applicability and early adoption where applicable. 

Standard / 
Interpretation 

Summary 

Standard 
applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on 

Expected Impact on the 
Authority financial 
statements 

AASB 17 Insurance 
Contracts. 

The new Australian standard seeks to 
eliminate inconsistencies and 
weakness in existing practices by 
providing a single principle based 
framework to account for all types of 
insurance contracts, including 
reissuance contract that an insurer 
holds. It also provides requirements 
for presentation and disclosure to 
enhance comparability between 
entities. 

This standard currently does not 
apply to the not-for-profit public 
sector entities. 

1 January 2023 Nil impact, standards does 
not apply to not-for-profit 

entities. 

AASB 2020-1 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or 
Non-Current 

This standard amends AASB101 to 
clarify requirements for presentation 
of liabilities in the statement of 
financial position as current or non-
current. A liability is classified as non-
current if an entity has the right at the 
end of the reporting period to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. 
The meaning of settlement of liability 
is also clarified. 

1 January 2022. 
However, ED301 
has been issued with 
the intention to defer 
application to 1 
January 2023 

This standard is not 
expected to have a 
significant impact on the 

public sector. 

AASB 2020-3: 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual 
Improvements 2018-
2020 and Other 
Amendments 

1 January 2022 This standard is not 
expected to have a 

significant impact. 

AASB 2020-8: 
Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform 
– Phase 2

1 January 2021 This standard is not 
expected to have a 
significant impact. 

There are no other accounting standards and interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily 
applicable to Victorian Pharmacy Authority in future periods. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.)

(T) Impact of COVID-19 pandemic

In March 2020 a state of emergency was declared in Victoria due to the global coronavirus pandemic, known 
as COVID-19. Since this date, to contain the spread of COVID-19 and prioritise the health and safety of our 
community, Victorian Pharmacy Authority was required to comply with various directions announced by the 
Commonwealth and State Governments, which in turn, has continued to impact the way in which Victorian 
Pharmacy Authority operates. 

VPA introduced a range of measures in both the prior and current year, including: 

• restrictions on non-essential visitors

• implementing work from home arrangements where appropriate

• holding meetings and panel hearings by video conference

• introducing remote inspections of registered premises

• carrying out site inspections in response to an identified public safety risk only.

As restrictions have eased towards the end of the financial year Victorian Pharmacy Authority has been able 
to revise some measures where appropriate including staff return to work, face to face meetings and site 
inspection of pharmacy premises. 

Further information on the impacts of the pandemic are disclosed at: 

▪ Note 2: Revenue and income from transactions
▪ Note 3: Expenses from transactions
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 2021  2020 

 $  $ 
2. Revenue and income from transactions

Operating activities 

Revenue from contract with customers 

Premises registration and business licence fees 1,369,465 1,342,767 

Application for licence to carry on pharmacy business 120,060 153,595 

Approval of pharmacies 59,910 74,410 

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,549,435 1,570,772 

Other source of income 

Other income from operating activities 9,301 900 

Total other source of income 9,301 900 

Total revenue and income from operating activities 1,558,736 1,571,672 

Non-operating activities 
Income from other sources 
Interest 6,518 21,193 

Total other source of income 6,518 21,193 

Total income from non-operating activities 6,518 21,193 

Total revenue and income from transactions 1,565,254 1,592,865 

Revenue recognised to fund the delivery of our services during the financial year was not materially impacted by 
the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic because the Authority’s response was limited to implementing COVID 
safe practices 

. 
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2021 2020 

$ $ 

3. Expenses from transactions

Salaries and wages 766,998 754,498 

On-costs 98,505 63,558 

Workcover premium 3,903 3,810 

Total employee expenses 869,406 821,866 

Finance costs 11,554 13,012 

Total finance costs 11,554 13,012 

Other administrative expenses 37,603 56,815 

Total other administrative expenses 37,603 56,815 

Audit fees 13,300 13,400 

Authority member fees and expenses 28,242 38,966 

Bank fees 13,372 13,831 

Car expenses – Inspectorial 13,232 35,193 

Consulting fees 21,749 15,005 

Consulting fees - other 72,870 75,884 

Expenses related to leases of low value assets 9,404 8,678 

Insurance 26,141 27,393 

Legal expenses 121,712 140,101 

Legal expenses - other 163,837 127,732 

Maintenance contracts (IT) 49,782 60,372 

Postage & Printing 6,033 4,036 

Rent - outgoings  19,714 18,322 

Repairs and maintenance 3,788 5,126 

Subscriptions 7,313 6,084 

Telephone 8,315 6,489 

Web site maintenance 4,076 4,353 

Total other operating expenses 582,880 600,965 

Depreciation (refer Note 10) 78,338 75,228 

Total depreciation  78,338 75,228 

Total Expenses from transactions 1,579,781 1,567,886 

Expenses incurred to deliver services during the financial year were not materially impacted by the COVID-19 
coronavirus pandemic because its response was limited to implementing COVID safe practice 

. 
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 2021  2020 
$ $ 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks,
and short-term deposits which are readily convertible to cash on hand and are subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value.

Cash at Bank 1,121,506 978,985 

Cask at bank - Central Banking System (CBS) 1,996,700 1,990,312 

Petty cash 250 250 

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,118,456 2,969,547 

5. Receivables

Statutory

GST input tax credit recoverable 20,726 21,479 

Total receivables 20,726 21,479 

6. Contract Liabilities

Pharmacy premises registration fees 410,175 397,125 

Pharmacy business licence fees 928,730 803,075 

Total contract liabilities 1,338,905 1,200,200 

Reconciliation of Contract Liabilities 

Opening balance 1,200,200 1,177,175 

Add: Payment received for performance obligation not yet fulfilled      1,338,905 1,200,200 

Less: Revenue recognised for the completion of a performance obligation 

          where payment was received in prior year (1,200,200) (1,177,175) 

Balance at end of year 1,338,905 1,200,200 

Represented by 

Current contract liabilities 1,338,905 1,200,200 

Non-current contract liabilities - - 

Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance from customers in respect of Pharmacy premises 

registration and Pharmacy business licence fees. Revenue is recognised following the provision of the service. 
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2021 2020 

$ $ 

7. Payables and Accrues Expenses

Contractual

Trade creditors 23,969 40,803 

Accrued expenses 46,135 67,585 

Statutory

PAYG payable 16,630 14,046 

Total payables 86,734 122,434 

8. Employee Benefits and Related on-costs

Current Provisions 

Annual leave 

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 38,186 25,940 

Long service leave 

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 6,213 37,293 

Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 106,881 56,823 

Provisions for on-cost 

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 8,661 10,368 

Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 11,324 6,020 

Total current provisions for employee benefits 171,265 136,444 

Non-current provisions 

Employee benefits  38,970 36,382 

On-costs 4,129 3,855 

Total non-current provisions 43,099 40,237 

Total provisions 214,364 176,681 

Reconciliation of annual and long service leave 

Current employee benefits and related on-costs 171,265 136,444 
Non-current employee benefits and related on-costs 43,099 40,237 

Total 214,364 176,681 

Movement in long service leave provisions 

Balance at start of year 144,326 125,154 
Additional provision recognised 3,370 27,870 
Revaluations due to change in discount and inflation rate 20,479 (3,337) 
Reductions arising from payments - (5,361)

Balance at end of year 168,175 144,326 
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9. Superannuation

Details in relation to superannuation funds are as follows: 
(a) The Authority contributes to a number of defined contribution funds on behalf of its employees. There are

no superannuation contribution liabilities to the funds at balance date.

(b) The amount of total contributions by the Authority to the Funds during the year amounted to $79,053.
(2020: $75,346). The detail of these contributions are below.

2021 2020 
$ $ 

MLC Superannuation Fund 18,865 22,398 
Other Funds 60,188 52,948 

79,053 75,346 

(c) The basis for calculations is in accordance with the statutory requirement which specifies that contributions
of the Authority are calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. The table below indicates the
range of contributions to the superannuation fund.

Superannuation Fund Employer Contribution Level 
MLC 9.50 - 14.50% 
Others 9.50 - 14.50% 

10. Property, Plant and Equipment

(a) Gross Carrying amount and accumulation depreciation

Gross carrying 
amount  

Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Net carrying 
amount 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Office equipment at fair value 15,543 4,892 (7,760) (4,377) 7,783 515 

Furniture at fair value 21,100 21,100 (11,184) (9,434) 9,916 11,666 

Building – right of use 560,622 560,622 (146,205) (73,001) 414,417 487,621 

Total Property, Plant and 
Equipment 597,265 586,614 (165,149) (86,812) 432,116 499,802 

Building right of use 

Opening balance – 1 July 2020 487,621 

Additions - 

Disposal - 

Depreciation (73,204) 

Closing balance – 30 June 2021 414,417 

Depreciation for the period 

Charge for the period 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Office equipment 3,383 476 

Furniture 1,751 1,751 

Right-of-use Building 73,204 73,001 

Total depreciation 78,338 75,228 
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10. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont.)

Reconciliation of movements in carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 

Office 
Equipment at 
fair value $ 

Furniture at 
fair value $ 

Right-of-use 
Building 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

Opening balance 515 991 11,666 13,417 487,621 - 

Recognition of right-of-use assets on initial 
Application of AASB 16 (a) 

- - - - - 560,622 

Additions 10,651 - - - - - 

Disposals - - - - - - 

Depreciation (3,383) (476) (1,751) (1,751) (73,204) (73,001) 

Closing balance 7,783 515 9,915 11,666 414,417 487,621 

(a) This balance represents the initial recognition of right-of-use assets recorded on the balance sheet on
1 July 2019 related to lease of office premises.

Fair value: Non-financial physical assets 

Fair value measurement hierarchy 

2021 

Carrying 
amount as at 
30 June 2021 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 
period using: (i) 

$ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Office equipment 7,783 - - 7,783 
Furniture 9,915 - - 9,915 

Total of assets at fair value 17,698 - - 17,698 

2020 

Carrying 
amount as at 
30 June 2020 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 
period using: (i) 

$ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Office equipment 515 - - 515 
Furniture 11,666 - - 11,666 

Total of assets at fair value 12,181 - - 12,181 

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value movements 

Office Equipment $ Furniture $ 

2021 2020 2021 2020 

Opening balance 515 991 11,666 13,417 

Purchase/addition 10,651 - - - 

Transfer out/disposal - - - - 

Depreciation (3,383) (476) (1,751) (1,751) 

Closing balance 7,783 515 9,915 11,666 



Victorian Pharmacy Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021 

Page 54 of 67

11. Reconciliation of net result for the year to Cash flow from operating
activities

2021 2020 

$ $ 

Net result for the year 5,952 21,642 

Add/(Less): 

Depreciation 78,338 75,228 

Movement in assets and liabilities 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  753 (6,435) 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets (3,591) (23,975) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (35,700) 43,868 

Increase/(decrease) in fees in advance and other current liabilities 138,705 23,025 

Increase/(decrease) in provision for employee entitlements 37,683 27,936 

222,140 161,289 

12. Remuneration of auditors

Victorian Auditor-General’s office

Audit of the financial statements 13,400 13,400 

No other amounts were received by the external auditors

13. Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received, less directly attributable
transaction costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether The Authority
has categorised its liability as either ‘financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss’, or financial
liabilities at ‘amortised cost’.

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any
difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in the net result
over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. Non-interest bearing borrowings are
measured at ‘fair value through profit or loss’.

Borrowings – Lease liabilities 
Current 

Lease liability 66,770 62,579 

Total current liability 66,770 62,579 

Non-current  

Lease liability 372,660 439,430 

Total Non-current liability 372,660 439,430 

Total Lease Liabilities 439,430 502,009 
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13. Borrowings – Lease liabilities (Cont.)

Lease Liabilities Minimum Future 
Lease payments 

2021 2020 

$ $ 

Finance leases 

Repayment in relation to leases are payable as follows: 

   Not later than one year 76,726 74,133 

   Later than 1 year and not later than 5 year 246,658 323,384 

   Later than 5 years 148,088 148,088 

   Minimum lease payments 471,472 545,605 

   Less future finance charges (32,042) (43,596) 

Total 439,430 502,009 

Included in the financial statements as: 

   Current finance lease liability 66,770 62,579 

   Non-current finance lease liability 372,660 439,430 

Total 439,430 502,009 

The fixed interest rate implicit in the finance lease is 3.50% 

Leases 

A lease is a right to use asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. All leases are recognised 
on the balance sheet, with the exception of low value leases (less than $10,000) and short term leases of less 
than 12 months. 

14   Commitments for Expenditure 

Nominal amounts Less than 1-5 5+ 

2021 1 year years years Total ($) 

Other commitments payable - photocopier 2,521 3,782 - 6,303

Other commitments payable - IT equipment 7,823 2,608 - 10,431

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) 16,734 

Less GST recoverable (1,521) 

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) 15,213 
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14 Commitments for Expenditure (Cont.) 

Nominal amounts Less than 1-5 5+ 

2020 1 year years years Total ($) 

Other commitments payable - photocopier 2,521 6,303 - 8,824

Other commitments payable - IT equipment 7,823 10,432 - 18,255

Total commitments (inclusive of GST) 27,079 

Less GST recoverable (2,461) 

Total commitments (exclusive of GST) 24,618 

15. Responsible persons and executive officers

In accordance with the Directions from the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994
(FMA) the following disclosures are made for the responsible persons for the reporting period

(a) Responsible Ministers Period 

The Honourable Jenny Mikakos
The Honourable Martin Foley
Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services

01/07/20 - 26/09/2020 
26/09/20 – 30/06/2021 

(b) Authority Members & Accountable Officer
Authority Members Mr David McConville (Chair) 01/07/20 – 30/06/21 

Ms Casuarina Fersterer 01/07/20 – 30/06/21 

Mr Brendon Moar 01/07/20 – 30/06/21 

Ms Marie Ritchie 01/07/20 – 30/06/21 

Ms Elizabeth Kennedy 01/07/20 – 30/06/21 

Mr Divesh Sanghvi   01/07/20 – 30/06/21 
Registrar Mr Aaron Bawden 01/07/20 – 30/06/21 

Remuneration 

Remuneration received by the accountable officer during the reporting period was in the range: 
$190,001 - $200,000 ($180,001 - $190,000 in 2019-20) 

(c) Remuneration of Responsible Persons The total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of
full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Total Remuneration Base Remuneration 

2021 2020 2021 2020 
Income Band No. No. No. No. 

$1 - 10,000 6 6 6 6 
$10,001 - $20,000 - 1 - 1
$130,001 - $140,000 - - - -
$140,001 - $150,000 - - - -
$150,001 - $160,000 - - - -
$160,001 - $170,000 - - - 1
$170,001 - $180,000 - - - -
$180,001 - $190,000 
$190,001 - $200,000 

- 
1 

1 
- 

1
-

-
-

Total number of executives 7 8 7 8 
Total annualised employee equivalents 1 1 1 1 

Total Remuneration $221,194 $226,243 $216,202 $205,732 

Payments made to Authority Members are for sitting fees and the reimbursement of expenses necessarily 
incurred in the conduct of the Authority’s activities.  There are no other related party transactions. 
There were no payments to contractors with significant management responsibilities. 
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15. Responsible persons and executive officers (Cont.)

(d) Remuneration of executives
The executive officer and the accountable officer is the Registrar (refer note 15 (b))

(e) Related parties
The Victorian Pharmacy Authority is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria.

Related parties of the Victorian Pharmacy Authority includes: 

• all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests
(controlled entities, joint ventures and entities they have significant influence over).

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

• all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state
consolidated financial statements.

Key management personnel of the Victorian Pharmacy Authority includes: 
Key Management Personnel Position title 

Mr David McConville (Chair) Chair 
Ms Casuarina Fersterer Authority member 
Mr Brendon Moar Authority member 
Ms Marie Ritchie Authority member 
Ms Elizabeth Kennedy Authority member 
Mr Divesh Sanghvi Authority member 
Mr Aaron Bawden Registrar 

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, 
or on behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.  

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that    
are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and         
free or subsidised goods or services. 
Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on discrete basis 
when employment ceased. 
Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred compensation 

Compensation of KMPs 2021 2020 
$ $ 

Short term employee benefits 199,476 205,867 
Post-employment benefits 17,376 16,372 
Other long-term benefits 4,342 4,004 

Total 221,194 226,243 

Transactions and balances with key management personnel and other related parties 
Given the nature of the Authority’s statutory obligation, no involvement in third party related transaction. 

There were no related party transactions that involved key management personnel, their family close family 
members and their personal business interest. No provision has been required, nor any expenses recognised, 
for impairment of receivable from related parties. 
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16 Financial instruments 

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Victorian Pharmacy Authority’s principal financial instruments comprise of: 
-Cash Assets,
-Receivables (excluding statutory receivables),
-Payables (excluding statutory payables), and
-Borrowings

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis 
of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial 
asset and financial liability are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements. 

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Authority’s financial risks within 
the government policy parameters. 

The authority uses different methods to measure and manage the risks to which it is exposed. Primary 
responsibility for the identification and management of financial risk rests with the Authority’s Audit and Risk 
committee. 

Categorisation of financial instruments 
Details of each category has been disclosed either in the balance sheet or in the notes in accordance with AASB 
9 Financial Instruments. 

Carrying Amount 
2021 

Carrying Amount 
2020 

Financial assets $ $ 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,118,456 2,969,547 

Total financial assets 3,118,456 2,969,547 

Financial liabilities 
Payables – creditors 70,104 108,388 
Borrowings - lease liability 439,430 502,009 

Total financial liabilities 509,534 610,397 

(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment
that it is entered into under a contract.

The Authority’s credit risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents. The Authority does not have any material 
credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial instruments entered by the 
Authority. 

Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by the Authority.  The Authority monitors the credit risk by actively 
assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counterparties and only utilising banks and financial institutions with a 
minimum 'AA' rating. 



Victorian Pharmacy Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021 

Page 59 of 67

16. Financial instruments (Cont.)

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

2021 

Financial 
Institutions 
(triple-A credit 
rating) 

Government 
agencies 
(triple-A 
credit rating) 

Other 
(double-A 
credit rating) 

Other 
(min 
triple-B 
credit 
rating) 

Total 

$ $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - - 3,118,456 - 3,118,456 

Total - - 3,118,456 - 3,118,456 

2020 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - - 2,969,547 - 2,969,547 

Total - - 2,969,547 - 2,969,547 

The Authority’s exposure to credit risk by ageing periods is set out in the following table. There are no material 
financial assets which are determined to be impaired at 30 June 21. 

Ageing Analysis of Financial Assets as at 30 June 

Carrying 
Amount 

Not Past 
Due and 

Not 
Impaired 

Past Due But Not Impaired Impaired 
Financial 
Assets 

Less 
than 1 
month 

1-3
months 

3 
months  
-1 Year

1-5
Years 

2021 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,118,456 3,118,456 - - - - - 

Total financial assets 3,118,456 3,118,456 - - - - - 

2020 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,969,547 2,969,547 - - - - - 

Total financial assets 2,969,547 2,969,547 - - - - - 

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The 
Authority’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far possible, that it will always have sufficient 
funding to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Authority’s reputation. 

The following table discloses the maturity analysis of contractual financial liabilities. 
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16. Financial instruments (Cont.)

Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June

Carrying 
Amount 

Nominal 
amount 

Maturity Dates 

Less than 
1 month 

1-3
Months 

3 
Months- 
1 Year 

1-5
Years 

2021 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities 
Payables (i) 70,104 70,104 70,104 - - - 
Borrowings 439,430 439,430 - - - 439,430 

Total financial 
liabilities 

509,534 509,534 70,104 - - 439,430 

2020 
Financial liabilities 
Payables (i) 108,388 108,388 108,388 - - - 
Borrowings 502,009 502,009 - - - 502,009 

Total financial 
liabilities 

610,397 610,397 108,388 - - 502,009 

(i) Ageing analysis of financial liabilities exclude the types of statutory financial liabilities. (ie GST payable)

(d) Market Risk

The Authority’s exposure to market risk is mainly through interest rate risk. 

Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily through the Authority’s financial assets.  For financial liabilities, the 
Authority mainly undertakes financial liabilities with relatively even maturity profiles. 

The Authority has no exposure to currency risk and other market risk. 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cashflows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rate. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities that are exposed interest rate risks are outlined below. 

Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Instrument 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Carrying 
Amount 

Interest Rate Exposure 

Fixed 
Interest rate 

Variable 
Interest rate 

Non 
Interest 
Bearing 

2021 % $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 0.58 3,118,456 - 3,118,456 - 

Total financial assets 3,118,456 - 3,118,456 - 

Financial liabilities 

Payables 70,104 - - 70,104 
Borrowings 439,430 439,430 - - 

Total financial liabilities 509,534 439,430 - 70,104 
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16. Financial instruments (Cont.)

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Carrying 
Amount 

Interest Rate Exposure 

Fixed 
Interest rate 

Variable 
Interest rate 

Non 
Interest 
Bearing 

2020 % $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 0.61 2,969,547 - 2,969,547 - 

Total financial assets 2,969,547 - 2,969,547 - 

Financial liabilities 

Payables 108,388 - - 108,388 
Borrowings 502,009 502,009 - - 

Total financial liabilities 610,397 502,009 - 108,388 

Sensitivity Disclosure Analysis 

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge 
and experience of the financial markets, the Authority believes the following movements are 'reasonably 
possible' over the next 12 months. 

- A parallel shift of +1% and -1% in market interest rates (AUD)

Carrying 
Amount 

Interest Rate Risk 

-1% +1%

Profit Equity Profit Equity 

2021 $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,118,456 (31,184) (31,184) 31,184 31,184 

(31,184) (31,184) 31,184 31,184 

2020 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,969,547 (29,695) (29,695) 29,695 29,695 

(29,695) (29,695) 29,695 29,695 



Victorian Pharmacy Authority  
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2021 

Page 62 of 67

16 Financial instruments (Cont.) 

(e) Fair Value

Financial instruments are required to be classified at fair value based upon the reference of the source of 
inputs used to derive their fair value.  Fair value measurements recognised are categorised into the following 
levels:  
Level 1: quoted prices in active markets,  
Level 2: quoted prices in non-active markets and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, either 
directly or indirectly, and 
Level 3: inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

The net fair value of all on-balance sheet monetary financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their 
carrying value.  There are no off-balance sheet financial assets or financial liabilities at balance date. 

The following table shows that the fair values of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same as 
the carrying amounts.  

Comparison between carrying amount and fair value 

Carrying 
Amount 

2021 

Fair Value 

2021 

Carrying 
Amount 

2020 

Fair Value 

2020 
$ $ $ $ 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 3,118,445 3,118,445 2,969,547 2,969,547 

Total financial assets 3,118,445 3,118,445 2,969,547 2,969,547 

Financial liabilities 
Payables (i) 70,104 70,104 108,388 108,388 
Borrowings 439,430 439,430 502,009 502,009 

Total financial liabilities 509,534 509,534 610,397 610,397 

(i) Financial liabilities exclude the types of statutory financial liabilities. (ie PAYG payable)

The Authority considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities recorded in the 
financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, because of the short-term nature of the 
financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full. 

There have been no transfers between levels during the period. 

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 

• The fair value of financial instrument assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices, and

• The fair value of other financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.
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17. Contingent assets and Contingent liabilities

There is no contingent assets (2020: Nil) and no contingent liabilities (2020: Nil) as at balance sheet date.

18. Events subsequent to balance date

There are no events occurring after the Balance Sheet date.

(2020: Nil).
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19. Glossary of technical terms

The following is a summary of the major technical terms used in this report. 

Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined benefit plans are changes in the present value of the 
superannuation defined benefit liability resulting from:  

(a) experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has
actually occurred); and

(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.

Administered item generally refers to a department lacking the capacity to benefit from that item in the pursuit of the 
entity’s objectives and to deny or regulate the access of others to that benefit. 

Amortisation is the expense that results from the consumption, extraction or use over time of a non-produced physical 
or intangible asset. This expense is classified as an ‘other economic flow’. 

Associates are all entities over which an entity has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a 
shareholding and voting rights of between 20 per cent and 50 per cent.  

Biological assets may comprise commercial forests and also any living animal, plant or agricultural produce that is the 
harvested product of biological assets. 

Borrowings refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from public borrowings raised through the Treasury 
Corporation of Victoria, lease liabilities, service concession arrangements and other interest-bearing arrangements. 
Borrowings also include non interest-bearing advances from government that are acquired for policy purposes. 

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory sources. 

Comprehensive result is the amount included in the operating statement representing total change in net worth other 
than transactions with owners as owners. 

Controlled item generally refers to the capacity of a department to benefit from that item in the pursuit of the entity’s 
objectives and to deny or regulate the access of others to that benefit.  

Current grants are amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which no economic benefits of equal value 
are receivable or payable in return. 

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or 
intangible asset. This expense is classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the ‘net result from transaction’. 

Effective interest method is the method used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits 
tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and defined contribution 
superannuation plans. 

Ex gratia expenses mean the voluntary payment of money or other non-monetary benefit (e.g. a write off) that is not 
made either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for the entity or to meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve a 
possible legal liability or claim against the entity. 

Finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying 
asset. 
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19. Glossary of technical terms (cont.)

Financial asset is any asset that is: 

(a) cash;

(b) an equity instrument of another entity;

(c) a contractual right:
– to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
– to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially

favourable to the entity; or

(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

– a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own
equity instruments; or

– a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.  

Financial liability is any liability that is: 

(a) a contractual obligation:

– to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

– to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the entity; or

(b) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

– a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s own
equity instruments; or

– a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s own
equity instruments do not include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of
the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial statements in the Model report comprises: 

(a) a balance sheet as at the end of the period;

(b) a comprehensive operating statement for the period;

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period;

(d) a cash flow statement for the period;

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information;

(f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraph 38 of AASB 101 Presentation
of Financial Statements; and

(g) a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an accounting
policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it
reclassifies items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101.
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19. Glossary of technical terms (cont.)

Grant expenses and other transfers are transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or 
extinguishes a liability) or labour to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can 
either be operating or capital in nature.  

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, they do not give 
the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to 
by the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed non-reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately 
equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to provide commensurate 
benefits, in the form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes.  

Grants can be paid as general-purpose grants, which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their 
use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants, which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have 
conditions attached regarding their use. 

General government sector comprises all government departments, offices and other bodies engaged in providing 
services free of charge or at prices significantly below their cost of production. General government services include 
those that are mainly non-market in nature, those that are largely for collective consumption by the community and 
those that involve the transfer or redistribution of income. These services are financed mainly through taxes, or other 
compulsory levies and user charges. 

Grants for on-passing are grants paid to one institutional sector (e.g. a State general government entity) to be passed 
on to another institutional sector (e.g. local government or a private non-profit institution). 

Infrastructure systems provide essential services used in the delivery of final services or products. They are 
generally a complex interconnected network of individual assets and mainly include sewerage systems, water storage 
and supply systems, and public transport assets owned by the State. 

Interest expense represents costs incurred in connection with borrowings. It includes interest on advances, loans, 
overdrafts, bonds and bills, deposits, interest components of lease repayments, service concession financial liabilities 
and amortisation of discounts or premiums in relation to borrowings. 

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on bank term 
deposits and other investments.  

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties 
exclude properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the State of Victoria. 

Joint ventures are contractual arrangements between the Department and one or more other parties to undertake an 
economic activity that is subject to joint control and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control only 
exists when the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the 
parties sharing control (the venturers). 

Leases are rights conveyed in a contract, or part of a contract, the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.  

Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from transactions) are purchases (and other acquisitions) of non-financial 
assets less sales (or disposals) of non-financial assets less depreciation plus changes in inventories and other 
movements in non-financial assets. Includes only those increases or decreases in non-financial assets resulting from 
transactions and therefore excludes write offs, impairment write downs and revaluations. 

Net financial liabilities is calculated as liabilities less financial assets, other than equity in public non-financial 
corporations (PNFC) and public financial corporations (PFC). This measure is broader than net debt as it includes 
significant liabilities, other than borrowings (e.g. accrued employee liabilities such as superannuation and long service 
leave entitlements). For the PNFC and PFC sectors, it is equal to negative net financial worth. 

Net financial worth is equal to financial assets minus liabilities. It is a broader measure than net debt as it 
incorporates provisions made (such as superannuation but excluding depreciation and bad debts) as well as holdings 
of equity. Net financial worth includes all classes of financial assets and liabilities, only some of which are included in 
net debt.  
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19. Glossary of technical terms (cont.)

Net gain on equity investments in other sector entities [DTF only] measured at proportional share of the carrying 
amount of net assets/(liabilities) comprises the net gains relating to the equity held by the general government sector in 
other sector entities. It arises from a change in the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiaries. The net gains are 
measured based on the proportional share of the subsidiary’s carrying amount of net assets/(liabilities) before 
elimination of inter sector balances. 

Net lending/borrowing is the financing requirement of government, calculated as the net operating balance less the 
net acquisition of non-financial assets. It also equals transactions in financial assets less transactions in liabilities. A 
positive result reflects a net lending position and a negative result reflects a net borrowing position. 

Net operating balance or net result from transactions is a key fiscal aggregate and is revenue from transactions 
minus expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes 
gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component 
of the change in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies.  

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of 
revenue, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those classified as ‘other non-
owner movements in equity’.  

Net worth is calculated as assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth. 

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not financial assets. It includes inventories, land, buildings, infrastructure, 
road networks, land under roads, plant and equipment, cultural and heritage assets, intangibles and biological assets 
such as commercial forests. 

Non-financial public sector represents the consolidated transactions and assets and liabilities of the general 
government and PNFC sectors. In compiling statistics for the non-financial public sector, transactions and 
debtor/creditor relationships between sub-sectors are eliminated to avoid double counting. 

Non-produced assets are assets needed for production that have not themselves been produced. They include land, 
subsoil assets, and certain intangible assets. Non-produced intangibles are intangible assets needed for production 
that have not themselves been produced. They include constructs of society such as patents.  

Operating result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of 
revenue, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are classified as ‘other 
non-owner movements in equity’. Refer also to ‘net result’.  

Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not 
result from transactions. In simple terms, other economic flows are changes arising from market remeasurements. 
They include gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non-current physical and intangible 
assets; fair value changes of financial instruments and agricultural assets; and depletion of natural assets 
(non-produced) from their use or removal.  

Other economic flows – other comprehensive income comprises items (including reclassification adjustments) that 
are not recognised in net result as required or permitted by other Australian Accounting Standards. They include 
changes in physical asset revaluation surplus; share of net movement in revaluation surplus of associates and joint 

ventures; and gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets. 

Style conventions 

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of 
components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on the underlying unrounded amounts. 

The notation used in the tables is as follows: 

.. zero, or rounded to zero 

(xxx.x) negative numbers 

200x year period 

200x 0x year period 
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